IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES FRANKLIN ROSE)	
)	
Appellant,)	
**)	
V.)	
)	CASE NO. SC 06-473
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	L.T. No. 76-5036CF10A
)	
Appellee.)	
)	

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida

> Florida Bar Number 602485 440 South Andrews Avenue Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 Telephone (954) 766-8856 Facsimile (954) 766-9919

Attorney for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, James Franklin Rose ("Rose"), was the defendant and post-conviction movant in the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida. Appellee, State of Florida ("State"), was plaintiff.

References to the Record on Appeal will be designated by the symbol "R" followed by appropriate page number(s) and encased in parentheses. The Transcript of the hearings relevant to Rose's rule 3.850 and 3.851 motion, the Order on which is presently before this Court for review, will be designated by the symbol "T" followed by the appropriate page number(s), together encased in parentheses.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has appellate jurisdiction to review a Circuit Court's ruling upon a motion for post-conviction relief, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 and 3.851, in a death penalty case. Art. V, § 3(b)(1), Fla. Const.; Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(1).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

To uphold a trial court's summary denial of claims raised in a postconviction motion pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 and 3.851, the claims must be either facially insufficient or conclusively refuted by the record. *See* Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850(d). Where no evidentiary hearing is held below, the Supreme Court must accept the defendant's factual allegations as true to the extent they are not refuted by the record. <u>Peede v. State</u>, 748 So.2d 253, 257 (Fla. 1999).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 9, 1976, Defendant, James Franklin Rose ("Rose"), was indicted for the Kidnapping and First-Degree Murder of eight year old Lisa Berry. (R 361). Rose was convicted as charged on both counts. Though the jury had deadlocked 6-to-6 on their advisory verdict, an Allen charge (later found to be improper) prompted a 7-to-5 death recommendation and Rose was sentenced to death for the offense of First-Degree Murder and to life imprisonment for Kidnapping. Rose appealed, contending, *inter alia*, that the evidence was insufficient to support his convictions for first-degree murder and kidnapping. This Court, in Rose v. State, 425 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1982), cert. denied, 461 U.S. 909, 103 S.Ct. 1883 (1983), affirmed Rose's convictions, but vacated his sentence of death and remanded for resentencing. At resentencing, the death sentence was reimposed and was affirmed on direct appeal. Rose v. State, 461 So. 2d 84, 86 (Fla. 1984), cert. denied, 471 U.S. 1143, 105 S.Ct. 2689 (1985).

Rose then originally moved for post-conviction relief pursuant to Rule 3.850, Fla. R. Crim. P., challenging the lawfulness of his conviction and sentence of death. The trial court summarily denied Rose's motion without an evidentiary hearing. On appeal, however, this Court reversed and remanded, directing the trial court to "reconsider Rose's motion and to hold an evidentiary hearing on the ineffective

assistance of counsel claims and any other appropriate factual issues presented in the motion." Rose v. State, 601 So. 2d 1181, 1184 (Fla. 1992).

The trial court then reconsidered Rose's original postconviction motion and conducted an evidentiary hearing on his claims that he had received ineffective assistance of counsel at both guilt and penalty phases of trial. The trial court again denied relief as to all claims, holding Rose's ineffective assistance claims did not meet the standard of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984).

On appeal of the trial court's denial of Rose's original postconviction motion, this Court held:

In light of the substantial mitigating evidence identified at the hearing below as compared to the sparseness of the evidence actually presented, we find that counsel's errors deprived Rose of a reliable penalty phase proceeding. We further conclude that Rose was prejudiced by the ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase for failing to investigate and present available mitigating evidence.

Rose v. State, 675 So. 2d 567, 574 (Fla. 1996).

This Court affirmed the trial court's denial of relief as to all claims raised in the original postconviction motion, except for Rose's claim that counsel was ineffective during the resentencing proceeding. This Court reversed the trial court's denial of relief as to that claim, vacated Rose's sentence of death, and remanded for

a new penalty phase proceeding before a jury who would properly consider available evidence of aggravation and mitigation before rendering their advisory verdict. Id.

New penalty phase proceedings were presided over on remand by the Honorable Paul L. Backman. The jury recommended a sentence of death and, on February 13, 1998, the trial court issued its sentencing order (R 341-359). Finding five statutory aggravators and no mitigators, the trial court imposed a sentence of death. (R 359). The aggravators found by the trial court to justify the death sentence were as follows:

- 1) the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed while he had been previously convicted of a felony and was under the sentence of imprisonment or on parole (F.S. 921.141(5)(a));
- 2) the defendant was previously convicted of a felony involving the use and/or threat of violence to some person (F.S. 921.141(5)(b));
- 3) the capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of, or attempt to commit, or attempting to commit the crime of kidnapping (F.S. 921.141(5)(d));
- 4) the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (F.S. 921.141(5)(h));
- 5) the victim of the capital felony was a person less than 12 years of age (F.S. 921.141.(5)(1)).

(R 342-348).

On appeal after remand, this Court affirmed Rose's newly imposed sentence of death. Rose v. State, 787 So.2d 786 (Fla. 2001). Rose petitioned for a writ certiorari in the Supreme Court of the United States, which was denied March 18, 2002. Rose v. Florida, 535 U.S. 951, 122 S.Ct. 1349 (2002).

Rose subsequently moved for postconviction relief, pursuant to rules 3.850, and 3.851, Fla. R. Crim. P., raising the eight (8) presently urged grounds for relief. (R 107-153). The State filed a response to Rose's postconviction motion (R 116-841), which the trial court adopted, entering an Order summarily denying Rose's postconviction motion without an evidentiary hearing. (R 842-848).

Rose file a timely Notice of Appeal. (R 849-850).

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This Court, in Rose v. State, 425 So.2d 521,522 (Fla. 1982), set forth the facts established at the original trial as follows:

Although circumstantial in nature, the evidence was sufficient for the jury to have found beyond a reasonable doubt that defendant, and no other person, kidnapped and murdered eight-year-old Lisa Berry. The evidence reveals that defendant was the last person to be seen with Lisa at the bowling alley on the night she disappeared. Barbara Berry, Lisa's mother, was at the bowling alley with family and friends when defendant arrived shortly after 9 p.m. on October 22, 1976. According to Barbara, defendant joined her and other team members at the bowling circle where they talked for several minutes. Shortly after 9:30 p.m., defendant said that he was going to the pool room area of the bowling alley. Lisa told her mother that she was going with him. Defendant and Lisa were last seen by Lisa's sister Tracy, who testified that Lisa was outside the front door of the bowling alley and defendant was standing just inside the front door. Defendant gave Tracy money for cokes, but when she returned from the snack bar with the cokes, both defendant and Lisa were gone. Upon being informed by Tracy that she could not find defendant and Lisa, Barbara attempted to find them. While looking for them, she was paged for a telephone call which turned out to be from defendant. He asked Barbara the time; she said 10:30. He responded that it was 10:23. He asked what time she would be finished bowling; she said 11:30. Defendant was next seen entering the bowling alley at approximately 11:30 p.m. The medical examiner's testimony established the time of Lisa's death to be within twenty-four hours either side of 1:12 a.m., October 23, 1976. The evidence reveals that defendant had a motive for killing Lisa. Although he and Lisa's mother had dated for about nine months, they were no longer dating regularly because he was extremely jealous about her working in the bowling alley bar and being around other men. Lisa's mother testified that defendant told her that he could hurt her and that she did not know what he was capable of doing. A male friend of Barbara's who was at the bowling circle when defendant was there was

asked by Lisa if he was going to have breakfast with her and her mother. According to testimony at trial, defendant, after having overheard this conversation had a look on his face as if to say, "What is going on?" Several people present at the bowling alley testified that when defendant returned at approximately 11:30, he had a large red spot on his lower right trousers leg. Expert testimony revealed the spot to be type B blood. Type B bloodstains also were found on the outside of the passenger's door of defendant's white van, on the passenger's seat, and on the engine cover. Fingernail scrapings taken from defendant revealed blood. It was stipulated in the record that Lisa had type B blood and that defendant had type A blood. At about 11:45 p.m. on the night Lisa disappeared, a white van was seen behind a Pantry Pride store located about a quarter of a mile from the bowling alley. Defendant was seen driving his white van that same night. According to testimony at trial, when the search for Lisa began shortly after defendant's return to the bowling alley at 11:30, he drove away and returned at least three times. Lisa's green sweater and pink pants were found the next afternoon behind the Pantry Pride. Her pink blouse was later found in defendant's van. Lisa's nude body was found four days after her disappearance in a canal approximately ten miles from the bowling alley. Her shoes were found about a mile apart alongside a road between the canal and the bowling alley. A paint-stained hammer was found in the canal about six feet from Lisa's body. Defendant was a painter, and expert testimony revealed that paint samples from the hammer were similar to paint samples taken from paint cans in his van. The medical examiner testified that Lisa's death resulted from severe head injuries caused by blunt force. Expert witnesses also testified that a green fiber taken from defendant's clothing after his arrest was consistent with fibers from Lisa's green sweater found behind the Pantry Pride and that a crushed hair taken from defendant's sock was consistent with hair from Lisa's hairbrush. Defendant made numerous inconsistent attempts to account for his whereabouts on the evening Lisa disappeared and to explain away certain evidence. Defendant told Lisa's mother that he was at the Highway Bar when he telephoned her regarding the time and stated to her that it was 10:23. He was uncharacteristically exact about the time, and he could be clearly heard without background noise which, according to testimony, would not have been possible had he been at the bar when he telephoned since the

band at the bar would have been playing loudly at that particular time. When defendant returned to the bowling alley at 11:30, he pretended that Lisa was still alive. Acting as though Lisa was present at the bowling alley in his visible sight, he commented to Lisa's mother that Lisa was getting chubby and asked who was the person with the goatee to whom Lisa was talking. When she turned around to see who defendant was referring to, she saw neither Lisa nor a person with a goatee. After initially denying that the spot on his trousers leg was blood, defendant later explained that he had cut himself changing a tire. Testimony indicated the spare tire was fully inflated. He told a police officer that he had cut his leg while crawling underneath the van to check out a noise he had heard. When the officer took defendant to the area where he claimed to have crawled under the van, the officer could not find any impressions in the sand that could have been made by a human body. In an attempt to cover the blood spot on his trousers which was first noticed and called to his attention upon his return to the bowling alley at 11:30, defendant first covered it with a whitewash or paint. Later, after he went into a restroom, the spot was covered with grease or some black substance. Defendant explained to a police detective that the blood on the seat of his van was from an injured friend whom he had taken home about two months earlier. The friend had type A blood. The blood on the seat was type B, the same as Lisa's. Defendant, at one point, told police detectives that Lisa had last been near the van about two weeks prior to the night of her disappearance. He later stated that Lisa had attempted to get into the van earlier that evening and he told her to get out. Lisa's mother testified that Lisa had not been in defendant's van for about a year. Defendant was convicted for the kidnapping and first-degree murder of Lisa Berry. The jury recommended death, and the trial court sentenced him to death for the murder and to life imprisonment for the kidnapping.

Rose v. State, 425 So.2d at 522-23.

Upon reversal and remand, penalty phase proceedings were conducted before the Honorable Paul L. Backman, Circuit Court Judge. As alleged in Rose's Sworn Motion for Postconviction Relief, the following then transpired:¹

During *voir dire*, prospective juror, Doris DeMatteis, asked: "Well, is the case going to be explained to us? I mean, *why he was sentenced?*" (R 117). The State then began its efforts for imposition of the death penalty by commenting, during opening statement:

Mr. Rose had been advised of his rights, constitutional rights, to remain silent by Detective McLellan and Walker, and he was further advised of his constitutional rights by Detective John Bukata on a written form. . . . Now, the police were suspicious, as I stated, of Mr. Rose. So they started surveilling Mr. Rose, following him, watching him. . . . And [Detective] Van Sant said words to the effect, "Look, are you making up this story regarding Lisa with a man at the bowling alley that you saw?" And at that time, Jim Rose terminated the conversation, wouldn't speak to him anymore.

(R 117-118).

The jury was again shown close up pictures of the body of Lisa Berry floating in the canal covered with maggots. The State elicited testimony from numerous witnesses for sentencing purposes, including Lisa's family members. Several fact

¹ Citations are to Rose's present Sworn Motion for Postconviction Relief, whose allegations must be taken as true to the extent they are not refuted by the record. Peede v. State, 748 So.2d 253, 257 (Fla. 1999).

witnesses testified concerning the events leading up to Lisa Berry's disappearance. Two of Rose's prior parole and probation officers also testified for the State.

Several current and former law enforcement officials testified. Medical examiner Abdullah Fatteh testified that his autopsy findings led him to the opinion that Lisa Berry had died as the result of severe head injuries caused by blunt force. (R 118).

Also, as alleged in Rose's postconviction motion, the State had withheld autopsy photographs which should have been disclosed earlier as they would have been relevant to establishing a more favorable time of death as it relates to the State's assertion of the HAC aggravator. (R 119). In order to illustrate the nature of Lisa's injuries, including a fracture to the base of her skull, the State presented two (2) photographs of the victim's skull which could have been used by the defense to show the fracture resulted not from a head injury, but from the erosion of that part of the skull by the work of maggots which had invaded the decaying body for days after death. (R 119). Though the Court held a Richardson hearing on the State's failure to earlier disclose this evidence, defense counsel failed to obtain any ruling from the trial court on the Richardson inquiry. Defense counsel omitted to obtain a ruling, not as a matter of strategy, but due purely to oversight. (R 119).

The trial court adopted the State's Response to Rose's Sworn Motion for Postconviction Relief, entering an Order summarily denying Rose's postconviction motion without an evidentiary hearing. (R 842-848).

This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in summarily denying each of Rose's Claims I, II, III, IV, V, VI, and VII, as they are facially sufficient and not conclusively refuted by the record. These claims should be remanded for evidentiary hearings.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING DEFENDANT'S CLAIMS I, II, III, IV, V, VI & VII, AS THEY ARE FACIALLY SUFFICIENT AND NOT CONCLUSIVELY REFUTED BY THE RECORD

The trial court entered an Order on Rose' Sworn Motion for Postconviction Relief, stating that no evidentiary hearing would be had on any of its eight (8) grounds and that each of the claims would be summarily denied. (R 842-848).

In order to uphold a trial court's summary denial of claims raised in a motion under rules 3.850 and 3.851, the claims must be shown to be either facially insufficient or conclusively refuted by the record. McLin v. State, 827 So.2d 948 (Fla. 2002). Rule 3.850(d) requires in this regard: "In those instances when the denial is not predicated on the legal insufficiency of the motion on its face, a copy of that portion of the files and records that conclusively shows that the movant is entitled to no relief shall be attached to the order."

Yet the State's Response in this case, adopted by the trial court, attaches absolutely no part of the record or transcript *in the trial court* other than (a) the original Indictment, and (b) the trial court's sentencing order. (R 341-362). The remainder of the State's attachments, adopted by the trial court, contain solely the State's own filings, copies of *appellate* briefs and written opinions of the *appellate*

courts. (R 294-841). Rose has, however, raised eight (8) grounds for relief, Grounds I, II, III, and IV, of which allege a denial of his Sixth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel *in the trial court*. The validity of such grounds cannot be even vaguely discerned—much less "conclusively refuted"—by reference to the State's own appellate filings, those of Rose's appellate counsel, and/or the orders of this and other appellate courts. As the files and records attached to the order summarily denying Rose's postconviction claims fail to show conclusively that the Defendant is entitled to no relief, reversal is required. McLin v. State, *supra*.²

As each of the summarily denied claims and the stated grounds for their denial differ in this case, an individual review of each claim follows.

Claim I alleges defense counsel's failure to obtain a ruling on a <u>Richardson</u> inquiry into a State discovery violation precluded the defense's use of photographs

² Thus, the Second District, in <u>Flores v. State</u>, 662 So.2d 1350 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1995), held a trial court's order denying postconviction relief from a first-degree murder conviction did not contain the required record attachment showing a proper jury instruction was given on premeditation and its summary denial of the defendant's ineffectiveness claim for failure to request the instruction was consequently improper, though the order incorporating the State's response identified a page of the transcript in which the instruction was given and recited the instruction verbatim, where the court did not attach a copy of the relevant page of the transcript to its order. The court noted the State's response is not a record attachment contemplated by the rule requiring record attachments to support summary denials and that the growing practice of incorporating State responses into orders denying postconviction motions is no substitute for record attachments to support summary denials of relief.

demonstrating that an alleged skull fracture may actually have resulted from maggots rather than the impact of a hammer, precluding an HAC aggravator. (R 123-127).

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