IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC06-473

JAMES FRANKLIN ROSE

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE

......

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

......

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Leslie T. Campbell
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No.: 0066631
1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
Telephone (561) 837-5000
Facsimile (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

GROUND I - Postconviction relief was denied properly. The trial court's reasoning is set forth in its order and supporting documentation is drawn from the State's response. Such was appropriated under McLin v. State, 827 So.2d 948, 954 (Fla. 2002); Anderson v. State, 627 So.2d 1170 (Fla. 1993). Further, the record establishes that the claims were legally insufficient, procedurally barred, meritless, or refuted from the record.

Sub-claim I - The claim of ineffectiveness for not having obtained a ruling on the <u>Richardson</u> issue is procedurally barred and meritless. This Court found on direct appeal that defense counsel placed on the record his reasoning for not presenting the newly disclosed autopsy photographs and Dr. Wright's testimony and that the trial court's failure to give a formal ruling on the <u>Richardson</u> matter was harmless. Rose is barred from cloaking the same issue as one of ineffectiveness to overcome the bar. Moreover, given counsel's announced record strategy and the resolution of the matter on direct appeal, Rose does not meet the dictates of <u>Strickland</u> to prove deficiency and prejudice.

Sub-claim II - The assertion that counsel rendered deficient performance when he failed to object to Juror DeMatteis' voir dire question was denied properly on the merits.

The record, when read in context, refutes the allegations raised here, and establishes that the jurors were properly instructed as to their sentencing role. Neither deficiency nor prejudice has been shown from the lack of an objection.

Sub-claim III - Rose claim of ineffective assistance for counsel's failure to object to the State's opening statement comment that Rose stopped talking to the police as a comment of the right to remain silent was denied properly.

Sub-claim IV - The denial of relief on the issue of counsel's effectiveness for not having objected to a single reference by the State to a tangential defense as a "smoke screen" was proper. No prejudice could be shown arising from the one comment.

Sub-claim V - VII - The challenge to Florida's capital sentencing based upon Ring is procedurally barred such a Sixth Amendment claim could have been raised on direct appeal. Moreover, Ring has been held not to be retroactive and Rose's sentence was final before Ring was issued. Furthermore, Rose has prior violent and contemporaneous felony convictions thereby taking the matter outside the purview of Ring.

ARGUMENT

GROUND I

THE SUMMARY DENIAL OF ROSE'S POSTCONVICTION MOTION WAS PROPER AS THE CLAIMS WERE LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT, PROCEDURALLY BARRED, MERITLESS AND/OR REFUTED FROM THE RECORD (restated)

Rose asserts that his motion presented facially valid claims, which should not have been denied summarily. Preliminarily, he complains that the trial court's order fails to attach portions of the record supporting the summary denial and then he challenges the denial of each of his postconviction claims. A review of the order and record establishes that the court's order denying relief summarily met the dictates of Anderson v. State, 627 So.2d 1170, 1171 (Fla. 1993) and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(f)(5)(D) when it outlined the basis for the denial of relief, referenced portions of the record either in the order or by incorporating the State's Response to Defendant's Motion for Postconviction Relief (PCR.2 226-841). Such procedure allows for a meaningful appellate review. Moreover, the individual claims fail as they either are plead insufficiently, procedurally barred, meritless, or refuted from the record. This Court should affirm.

On review, a summary denial of postconviction relief will be affirmed where the law and competent substantial evidence supports its findings. Diaz v. Dugger, 719 So.2d 865, 868 (Fla.

1998). In Lucas v. State, 841 So.2d 380, 388 (Fla. 2003), this Court stated: "To uphold the trial court's summary denial of claims raised in a 3.850 motion, the claims must be either facially invalid or conclusively refuted by the record. Further, where no evidentiary hearing is held below, we must accept the defendant's factual allegations to the extent they are not refuted by the record." See State v. Coney, 845 So.2d 120, 134-35 (Fla. 2003); Peede v. State, 748 So.2d 253, 257 (Fla. 1999) (citation omitted). To support a summary denial, the court "must either state its rationale in its decision or attach those specific parts of the record that refute each claim presented in the motion." McLin v. State, 827 So.2d 948, 954 (Fla. 2002) (quoting Anderson v. State, 627 So.2d 1170 (Fla. 1993)).

RECORD DOCUMENTS NEED NOT BE ATTACHED TO THE ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF SO LONG AS THE COURT'S ORDER MAKES FACTUAL FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND REFERENCES THOSE PORTIONS OF THE RECORD AS ARE NECESSARY TO PERMIT A MEANINGFUL APPELLATE REVIEW (restated)

Pursuant to rule 3.851(f)(5)(D), the court denying postconviction relief must "mak[e] detailed findings of fact and conclusions of law with respect to each claim, and attach[] or referenc[e] such portions of the record as are necessary to allow for meaningful appellate review." As noted above when discussing the standard of review, attachment of portions of the record are not required where the trial court puts its rationale

in writing. McLin, 827 So.2d at 954; Anderson, 627 So.2d at 1171. Here, the trial judge made detailed findings, referenced case law, and specific portions of the State's response wherein record citations as well as related materials were provided in support of summary denial of relief. Together, these items allow for a meaningful review. The complaint that documents should have been attached to the order must be rejected.

Law for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel - For a defendant to prevail on an ineffectiveness claim, he must establish (1) counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and (2) but for counsel's deficiency, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceeding would have been different. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688-89 (1984).

First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable.

<u>Valle v. State</u>, 778 So.2d 960, 965 (Fla. 2001). At all times, Kearse bears the burden of proving not only counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of

reasonableness, and was not the result of a strategic decision, but also actual and substantial prejudice resulted from the deficiency. See Strickland 466 at 688-89; Gamble v. State, 877 So.2d 706, 711 (Fla. 2004).

In Davis v. State, 875 So.2d 359, 365 (Fla. 2003), this Court reiterated that the deficiency prong of Strickland requires the defendant establish counsel's conduct was "outside the broad range of competent performance under prevailing professional standards." (citing Kennedy v. State, 547 So.2d 912, 913 (Fla. 1989). With respect to performance, "judicial scrutiny must be highly deferential;" "every effort" must "be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight," "reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct," and "evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689; Davis, 875 So.2d at 365. assessing the claim, the Court must start from a "strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688-89 (citation omitted). The ability to create a more favorable strategy years later, does not prove deficiency. See Patton v. State, 784 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 2000); Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1995). "A court considering a claim of ineffectiveness of counsel need not make a specific ruling on the performance component of the test when it is clear that the

prejudice component is not satisfied." Maxwell v. Wainwright, 490 So.2d 927, 932 (Fla. 1986).

Expounding upon <u>Strickland</u>, the Supreme Court cautioned in Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 533 (2003):

In finding that [the] investigation did not meet Strickland's performance standards, we emphasize that Strickland does not require counsel to investigate every conceivable line of mitigating evidence no matter how unlikely the effort would be to assist the defendant at sentencing. Nor does Strickland require defense counsel to present mitigating evidence at sentencing in every case. Both conclusions would interfere with the "constitutionally protected counsel" independence of at the heart Strickland.... We base our conclusion on the much more limited principle that "strategic choices made after less than complete investigation are reasonable only to the extent that "reasonable professional judgments support the limitations on investigation." ... A decision not to investigate thus "must be directly assessed for reasonableness in all the circumstances."

Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 533. From Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362 (2000), it is clear the focus is on what efforts were undertaken and why a specific strategy was chosen over another. Investigation (even non-exhaustive, preliminary one) is not required for counsel reasonably to decline to investigate a line of defense thoroughly. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690-91 (stating "[s]trategic choices made after less than complete investigation are reasonable precisely to the extent the reasonable professional judgments support the limitations on investigation.").

SUB-CLAIM I

ROSE'S ASSERTION THAT COUNSEL RENDERED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE FOR FAILING TO OBTAIN A RULING ON THE RICHARDSON INQUIRY WAS DENIED PROPERLY (restated)

Rose posits that this Court's direct appeal finding that trial counsel made a tactical decision regarding the non-use of autopsy photographs and x-rays which were the subject of an alleged Brady/Richardson violations was merely dicta. He claims that such dicta could not form the basis for the trial court's finding of a procedural bar on collateral review when the matter was raised on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for not having obtained a formal ruling on the Richardson hearing. Rose adds that counsel's failure to obtain a ruling following the Richardson hearing somehow precluded him from using the recently released evidence to dispute the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator. (IB 18) For relief, Rose seeks a new penalty phase. This claim must fail.

In finding the ineffectiveness claim procedurally barred, the trial court reasoned that the claim was addressed on direct appeal, and noted that counsel had put on the record his discussion of the photographs and his reason for not presenting same. Further, the court noted Rose's agreement with this decision. (PCR.3 843). In coming to this conclusion, the court referenced and adopted the State's Response (PCR.2 259-68; PCR.3

843). Such conclusion has record support.

On direct appeal from the resentencing, this Court addressed the Brady/Richardson issues as follows:

In issue two, Rose argues the State improperly withheld autopsy photographs until the current proceedings in violation of Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963). Specifically, he argues that the withheld photographs should have been disclosed earlier because they would have been relevant in establishing a more favorable time of death as it relates to the State's assertion of the HAC aggravator. Although this claim appears to constitute a Richardson claim as well as a Brady issue we find no reversible error under either analysis.

. . .

The crux of the controversy here involves the late discovery of photographs which purportedly depict one of the injuries suffered by the victim. previously mentioned, Dr. Fatteh testified that the victim suffered a fracture at the base of her skull. In order to illustrate the nature of the injuries, including this fracture, the State presented Dr. Fatteh's testimony along with certain photographs, the admissibility of which was challenged and addressed in issue 1, supra. However, these photographs are not at issue in the Brady claim. The photographs claimed to be a violation of Brady consist of two sets, one containing two prints of the victim's skull, and another containing sixteen other autopsy photographs, totaling in all eighteen prints. Rose argues the twoprint set could be used to show that the fracture resulted not from a head injury, but instead from the erosion of that part of the skull by the work of maggots who had invaded the decaying body in the days after death.

Starting with Strickler's first prong, we agree the photographs were in fact material in rebutting the State's evidence of the HAC aggravator.FN4 To the extent that these two photographs might have shown that the victim died very quickly, they might have negated the State's theory on HAC. The second prong of

Strickler was met here as well. These two sets of photographs curiously surfaced in the most recent penalty phase. Because of this late disclosure, the trial court held a *Richardson* hearing. ...

... thus, for the purposes of analysis the photographs appear to have been withheld.

However, Strickler's third and dispositive prong has not been met. As asserted, the utility of these photographs would have gone toward establishing some line in rebutting the HAC aggravator. Nonetheless, it does not seem that the evidence would have established how long it took for the victim to die beyond what was estimated by the medical examiner in his testimony. Even assuming that the skull fracture resulted from the maggots eating out the particular part of the victim's skull and not from a direct impact to the head, it is hard to see how that establishes a quicker death for the victim. In other words, the photographs would have done very little in either confirming or negating Dr. Fatteh's testimony that the death occurred within four to eight minutes of the head injuries.

More importantly, as part of the Richardson process, the trial court offered to allow trial counsel as much time as necessary to go over the two pictures with Dr. Wright, a defense witness, on manner and cause of death, but counsel refused. Counsel appeared concerned that, because of their gruesome nature, the use of the photographs before the jury would have actually hurt his client. Accordingly, in addition to the fact that the photographs were of questionable relevancy to rebut HAC, the fact that counsel tactically chose not to use this material undermines any claim of prejudice. See Way v. State, So.2d 903 (Fla. 2000) (affirming denial postconviction relief where photographic evidence did not put the case in such different light as to undermine confidence in proceeding).FN5

Failure to Rule Upon Richardson Hearing

In issue three, Rose argues that the trial court erred in failing to rule on the *Richardson* issue. We disagree. As a general rule, the failure of a party to

get a timely ruling by a trial court constitutes a waiver of the matter for appellate purposes. See Richardson v. State, 437 So.2d 1091, 1094 (Fla. 1983). just mentioned above, the trial court held a hearing regarding the late discovery of the two sets of photographs. Although it could not be determined whether the State willfully committed improprieties regarding the late discovery of the photographs, Rose's counsel realized that the use of these photographs would have at best had the effect of a double-edged sword because of their gruesome nature. In a tactical move, Rose's counsel decided not to use the photographs and not to call his own expert despite the trial court's urging. Trial counsel's decision effectively resolved the matter and any failure of the court to formally rule was rendered harmless. See Richardson, 437 So.2d at 1094.

Rose, 787 So.2d at 795-97 (emphasis supplied).

This Court's finding that defense counsel was making a tactical decision was based upon the resentencing record where counsel, without putting on the defense medical expert, Dr. Wright, sought an advisory evidentiary ruling on the admissibility of the recently disclosed prints. However, not

FN4. It should be noted that the *Brady* claim here is limited to penalty phase issues because the photographs only go to the manner of death, not to identity or other reasonable doubt-related factors that might have been relevant at the guilt phase. *Brady*, of course, is applicable to both guilt and punishment. *See Strickler*, 527 U.S. at 280, 119 S.Ct. 1936.

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